ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

J. C. Buddy Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

GREGORY GATHERS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2011-203951

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BENJAMIN J. TRIPP
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

RECEIVED
JUL 17 2013

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court reversibly erred by admitting photographs from the decedent's autopsy depicting her bruised and cut face and body where the State already obtained evidence of the same through the pathologist's testimony and use of diagrams from his examination of decedent?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Gregory Quinn Gathers was indicted by the Charleston County Grand Jury on September 8, 2010, for murder. R. 6, lines 10-18; R. 437 (Indictment). His case proceeded to trial before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr., and a jury from November 14th through 17th, 2011. R. 1; R. 360. Martha Kent Runey (Counsel) and Ted Smith represented Appellant, while E. Culver Kidd and Adam D. Young represented the State. R. 2.

The jury found Appellant guilty of murder. R. 417, line 23—R. 418, line 8. The trial court imposed a life sentence. R. 435, lines 19-22; R. 439 (Sentence sheet).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant Gregory Gathers finished doing side-work for his employer on the morning of June 6, 2010. After he ate breakfast and was paid, he left and met with friends in the Liberty Hill neighborhood of North Charleston. R. 312, line 8—R. 313, line 5. Appellant testified that he had approximately \$620 when he went to Liberty Hill; he specifically placed \$420 of that into his buttoned back pocket to keep separate from the remaining spending money. R. 356, lines 15-25. While there, Appellant drank with his friends all day and smoked marijuana, collectively consuming approximately one case of beer and a half-gallon of liquor. R. 313, lines 4-16. By about midnight, Appellant walked to the bus stop to go home. After he missed his bus, Appellant met Renee Nevarez (Nevarez), who was also at the bus stop. Nevarez asked Appellant “if [he] wanted to have fun with her,” which Appellant understood to mean drugs and sex; he accepted. R. 313, line 21—R. 314, line 11.

After obtaining a quantity of crack cocaine, Appellant and Nevarez went to Nevarez’s apartment where they smoked crack and had sex. Approximately three to four times after that, Appellant left, bought more crack, returned, and again smoked it with Nevarez and had sex. R. 314, line 12—R. 315, line 12. At some point, Appellant blacked out and fell asleep. R. 315, lines 13-18.

He awoke to the alarm clock on his cell phone at approximately 4:30 am to get ready for work. R. 315, line 19—R. 316, line 1. Appellant started getting dressed, and Nevarez helped by giving Appellant his clothing. However, when Appellant felt his pocket, he realized that the \$420 he put aside was missing. R. 316, lines 10-24. Appellant asked Nevarez for the money, and the two began to argue. A physical fight ensued in the

bedroom; Appellant slapped Nevarez and then hit her in the nose, which began to bleed. Nevarez then told Appellant that she would give him his money. R. 317, lines 2-13. When Nevarez did not, Appellant grabbed her by the hair and pulled. Nevarez then told Appellant that the money was in the living room. Appellant walked to the living room while still holding Nevarez's hair. Once there, Nevarez looked through the sofa for the money. R. 317, lines 14-25.

Nevarez said she would give the money back, and then said it was not there. After Appellant inquired about its location, Nevarez told Appellant she would give it to him. She then went to the kitchen, pulled a knife from the butcher block, and the two began fighting over the knife. R. 318, line 6-15. Appellant was able to grab Nevarez's wrist and got the handle of the knife. However, Nevarez grabbed the blade of the knife, and the handle broke off leaving Nevarez with the blade. The fight continued over the blade. Appellant testified that he again hit Nevarez and, as she fell to the ground, Nevarez hit her head on the counter. R. 318, lines 17-25. Appellant then asked for his money again; he further indicated that, while Nevarez faced the ground, she said she did not have the money and that she would give it to him later. R. 319, lines 1-9; R. 341, lines 18-20; R. 354, lines 10-12. Appellant got scared and left. He took with him the handle to the knife and Nevarez's cell phone, both of which he threw across the street toward the nearby train tracks. R. 319, line 25—R. 320, line 5.

As he walked, Appellant stopped at the home of his eighty-year old father, Harry Gathers, Jr., who lived approximately three blocks away. R. 81, lines 9-21; R. 320, lines 6-8. However, Appellant's father already left to pick-up Appellant at Appellant's residence to take him to work. R. 320, lines 10-14.

Appellant continued to walk to his girlfriend's apartment where he lived. He called his brother in Walterboro. He told his brother that he was in a fight, that he messed up, and that a woman might be hurt. Appellant then asked his brother to check on Nevarez. R. 320, lines 17-25.

Appellant also stopped at gas station on his walk home, and purchased a beer. He then called his girlfriend and told her he was in a fight. R. 321, lines 4-24. After arriving at his residence, he called his brother and told him that he was home. He then washed his hands, and drank another beer. Shortly after, his father and brother arrived and indicated they stopped by the location of the incident; Nevarez was still lying on the floor. Appellant testified that he told his father and brother to get some help by calling an ambulance and the police. R. 321, line 25—R. 322, line 20.

Later that morning, Officers Lewis Bazzle (Bazzle) and Fred Houtz (Houtz) of the North Charleston Police Department arrived at Appellant's residence. Appellant stated to them that he was the one they were looking for, and that he "F'd up." R. 92, line 5—R. 94, line 5. Bazzle and Houtz arrested Appellant, and Houtz took him to the North Charleston Police Department to meet with detectives. R. 15, lines 6 – 17; R. 94, lines 17—24; R. 323, lines 8-21. At the station, Appellant gave a statement to Detective Justin C. Holt (Holt), of the North Charleston Police Department, over the course of approximately two hours of interrogation. R. 20, line 1; R. 6—R. 34, line 8; R. 101, lines 9-11; R. 105, line 3—R. 111, line 21.

During Appellant's trial Doctor Nicholas Batalis (Batalis), of the Medical University of South Carolina (MUSC) in Charleston, testified as well. R. 265, lines 18-25. Batalis was the forensic pathologist who performed the autopsy of Nevarez on June 8, 2010. R. 270,

lines 7-19. Based on his examination, Batalis determined the cause of Nevarez's death was blunt-force trauma of the head. R. 271, lines 6-10. Utilizing diagrams he created, Batalis explained and showed that Nevarez's injuries included swelling of her neck, large bruising on her face and scalp, scrapes on the left side of her face, lacerations over each eye, incise wounds over each eye, and bleeding in and around her brain, which was swollen. R. 272, lines 9-15; R. 273, line 10—R. 281, line 10. Additionally, Nevarez had three relatively superficial incise wounds on her hands. R. 283, line 22—R. 284, line 21.

Thus, Batalis explained Nevarez's injuries in detail not only through the use of Batalis' report, but also through the use of visually displaying diagrams created by Batalis to the jury during Batalis' testimony. Yet, the State further sought to introduce photographs of Nevarez's injuries taken during the autopsy; over Counsel's objections that the photographs were prejudicial, and that the injuries were already explained to the jury through Batalis' testimony and through the use of diagrams, the trial court admitted the photographs because they showed less blood and gore compared to the photographs taken at the scene of the incident. R. 131, line 20—R. 137, line 25; R. 286, line 10—R. 292, line 24; R. 305, line 2—R. 306, line 10; R. iii (State's Exhibit Numbers 10 through 15, Photographs).

Additionally, the State emphasized the graphic nature of the autopsy photographs—particularly those depicting Nevarez's "swollen and mangled" face—in its closing argument, and encouraged the jury to examine them. Specifically, the State admitted that "it's hard to look at, and it's not easy," and then relied upon the photographs to argue that "if there is anything that can show maliciousness, it's those photos." R. 386, lines 2-4; R. 387, lines 1-5.

The jury found Appellant guilty as charged, and the trial court imposed a sentence of life imprisonment. R. 417, line 23—R. 418, line 8; R. 435, lines 19-22; R. 439 (Sentence sheet). This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial court reversibly erred by admitting photographs from the decedent's autopsy depicting her bruised and cut face and body where the State already obtained evidence of the same through the pathologist's testimony and use of diagrams from his examination of decedent.

The trial court erroneously admitted autopsy photographs into evidence, which included close-up depictions of Nevarez's "swollen and mangled" face. R. iii (State's Exhibit # 10); R. iii (State's Exhibit # 11); R. iii (State's Exhibit # 12). Counsel timely objected, and later placed on the record that the photographs that the photographs were prejudicial, and that the injuries were already explained to the jury through Batalis' testimony and through the use of diagrams. Regardless, the trial court admitted the photographs simply because they showed less "blood" and "gore" compared to the photographs taken at the scene of the incident, which the court suppressed. R. 131, line 20—R. 137, line 25; R. 286, line 10—R. 292, line 24; R. 305, line 2—R. 306, line 10; R. iii (State's Exhibit Numbers 10 through 15, Photographs). This was error as the photographs were not necessary to substantiate material facts or conditions, and their probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice by creating a tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis.

"Although photographs may be used to corroborate other evidence, it is well established that photographs calculated to arouse the sympathies and prejudices of the jury are to be excluded if they are irrelevant *or unnecessary to the issues at trial.*" State v. Middleton, 288 S.C. 21, 24, 339 S.E.2d 692, 693 (1986) (emphasis added) (internal citations omitted) (reversing and remanding where the information contained in the photographs was not really at issue, and other testimony negated any arguable evidentiary value of the photographs); see State v. Brazell, 325 S.C. 65, 78, 480 S.E.2d 64, 72 (1997) (agreeing with

the same evidentiary principles, but factually different); State v. Waitus, 224 S.C. 12, 77 S.E.2d 256, 263 (1953); State v. Elders, 386 S.C. 474, 483, 688 S.E.2d 857, 862 (Ct. App. 2010) (agreeing with the same evidentiary principles, but factually different); see also Rule 401, SCRE (defining relevant evidence); Rule 402, SCRE (prohibiting admission of irrelevant evidence). Stated differently, “[p]hotographs calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury should be excluded if they are . . . not *necessary* to substantiate *material* facts or conditions.” State v. Collins, 398 S.C. 197, 202, 727 S.E.2d 751, 754 (Ct. App. 2012) (emphasis in original) (internal quotations omitted) (quoting State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 228 (2010)).

Additionally, Rule 403 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence allows for even relevant evidence to be excluded “if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” Rule 403, SCRE; see also State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 177, 460 S.E.2d 370 (1995) (“It is well settled that evidence should be excluded when its probative value is outweighed by its prejudicial effect.”). In order to constitute unfair prejudice, “the photographs must create a tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, although not necessarily, an emotional one.” Kelley, 319 S.C. at 178, 460 S.E.2d at 370-71 (quoting State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 382, 401 S.E.2d 146, 149 (1991)).

In the present case, the State was allowed to admit several autopsy pictures of Nevarez’s remains after its expert forensic pathologist, Batalis, already provided detailed testimony regarding the injuries and cause of death. Furthermore, the State visually illustrated the injuries to the jury through Batalis’ diagrams as Batalis testified. Thus, the injuries to Nevarez were fully presented, explored, and explained to the jury through

testimonial and demonstrative means. Accordingly, the autopsy photographs depicting Nevarez's remains were not necessary to substantiate material facts or conditions in the case.

Additionally, the photographs were not needed to prove the elements of murder.¹ First, as previously indicated, the cause of death blunt-force trauma of the head was established by Batalis through the use of his autopsy report and his diagrams. Second, Batalis' testimony also encompassed what would be required to produce such injuries. Specifically, Batalis testified that such bruising and lacerations to Nevarez's face and scalp indicate she was struck anywhere from five to as many as twenty or more times. Furthermore, Batalis explained to the jury that a person would not die simply due to bruising of the face and scalp, as in a bad fight or car accident; rather, Batalis indicated that Nevarez was beaten so badly that her brain "sloshed" back and forth causing it to markedly swell. R. 272, lines 9-15; R. 273, line 10—R. 281, line 10. Thus, Batalis' testimony indicated the blunt-force trauma here was so severe that it caused brain dysfunction in Nevarez. As a result, the State did not need the autopsy photographs of Nevarez to prove the element of malice. Therefore, the autopsy photographs of Nevarez's remains were not necessary to substantiate material facts or even elements of the charged offense: "the photos in this case are hardly 'necessary,'" and are of little significance to the State's case." Collins, 398 S.C. at 202, 727 S.E.2d at 754 (citing Torres, 390 S.C. at 623, 703 S.E.2d at 228). Accordingly, the probative value of the photographs in question was, at best, minimal.

¹ Murder is defined as "the killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10 (West, Westlaw current through end of 2011 Sess); see also State v Dickerson, 395 S.C. 101, 119 n.5, 716 S.E.2d 895, 905 n.5 (2011).