ORIGINAL

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**Appeal from Charleston County
J. C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2011-203951**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

V.

GREGORY QUINN GATHERS,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**ALAN WILSON
Attorney General**

**JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General**

**DONALD J. ZELENKA
Assistant Deputy Attorney General**

**WILLIAM EDGAR SALTER, III
Senior Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 4806**

**P. O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305**

**SCARLETT WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit
101 Meeting Street, Ste 400
Charleston, SC 29401-2214
(843) 958-1900**

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

A. How the issue developed at trial.

After the State had concluded its direct examination of Inv. Holt and both he and the jury had

been sent home for the evening, the Assistant Solicitor noted that he had the photographs on which the parties disagreed as to admissibility. He proffered these photographs for the trial judge to review and the trial judge indicated that he would look at them. **R. p. 115, lines 21-25.** The following morning, the trial judge addressed whether the various contested photographs were admissible. Of importance to the present issue, the Assistant Solicitor argued that the contested autopsy photographs¹³ were admissible because the case came down to malice and the photographs demonstrated that the victim was fighting for her life. **R. p. 126, line 2 - p. 129, line 14.**

When asked to state his objection, Gathers noted his objection to the photographs then referred to as **State's Exhibits 33 and 34** was that "the blood makes it highly prejudicial. The fact that, you know, they're pulling the hands out of the body bag is highly prejudicial, as well." He further argued that both the officer and the pathologist could both testify to the injuries depicted.¹⁴ Although Gathers offered to stipulate to the location of the wounds, the Assistant Solicitor correctly noted that "the severity of the wounds is what's important." The State indicated that the pathologist would testify to the wounds, but the trial judge took the question of whether these photographs were admissible under advisement. **R. p. 129, line 15 - p. 130, line 20.**

Next, Gathers argued that the photograph marked as Number 32, was emotional. He conceded that the photograph was relevant when the trial judge asked if it did not show what the blows had done, but he argued that "the blood and the body bag on those are going to prejudice the jury and ... affect their decision, based on emotions." The Assistant Solicitor observed that the

¹³ The autopsy photographs were identified at that time as **State's Exhibits 31-34** but, as made clear, *infra*, they were subsequently proffered and/or introduced with different numbers assigned to them. Also, the State withdrew **State's Exhibit 31.**

¹⁴ Apparently, one of the two photographs to which Gathers was referring at that point was **State's Exhibit 14**, but it is not entirely clear.

photograph was important because it showed the two lacerations over her eyes, which the pathologist would testify are knife wounds. He planned to contrast this photograph with a DMV photograph of the victim before her injuries, “which actually shows her having a very sharp nose-ridge line which kind of shows that one slash of the knife really couldn’t get both those spots on her eyes.” The trial judge noted that he was inclined to admit it but took it under advisement until the pathologist testified. **R. p. 130, line 22 - p. 132, line 25.**

The trial judge suggested that the State use autopsy photographs in which the victim’s body had been cleaned to demonstrate many of the injuries because those photographs would not have the blood present. The Assistant Solicitor stated that he usually did not use autopsy photographs because the body had been altered, but Gathers indicated that he did not object to such alteration. Again, the trial judge took the question of admissibility under advisement until the pathologist testified. He made the same decision with respect to an autopsy photograph showing injuries to the victim’s right knee. **R. p. 133, line 1 - p. 137, line 25.**

The State then noted it had marked all of the contested photographs as **State’s 7 for ID through 15 for ID**. Gathers also stated that he did not have any objection relating to authentication of the photographs. **R. p. 140, line 23 - p. 141, line 21.**

The prosecution thereafter offered **State’s Exhibits 10-15** during the subsequent testimony of Dr. Nicholas Batalis, the forensic pathologist who performed the autopsy on Renee Nevarez.¹⁵ Gathers renewed his previous objection but the trial judge overruled it and the photographs were admitted. **R. p. 286, line 8 - p. 287, line 10.** As discussed in the Statement of Facts, Dr. Batalis used these photographs to illustrate some of the injuries that he observed on his external examination of

¹⁵ See Statement of Facts, *supra*.

the victim. **R. p. 287, line 11 - p. 290, line 13.**

After Dr. Batalis' testimony, the trial judge allowed Gathers to place his objections on the record *in camera*. Of importance to the present argument, he renewed his motion to suppress **State's Exhibits 10-12**, arguing that Dr. Batalis did testify to the victim's "injuries and was able to do so through diagrams." Also, the autopsy photographs were prejudicial and would arouse the emotions of the jury and cause them to make a decision based on those pictures versus what they heard from the witness stand. **R. p. 305, lines 2-18.**

The trial judge overruled Gathers' objection to these photographs. He observed that he had sustained Gathers' objections to **State's Exhibits 7 for I.D. through 9 for I.D.** because he found that the probative value of those photographs was substantially outweighed by their prejudicial effect. **R. p. 305, line 19 - p. 306, line 2.** However, he found that:

it's very clear from the wounds in the pictures that the Court allowed. Basically, the same pictures were allowed in from the autopsy after the blood had been removed. I think the prejudicial value of State's Exhibits 7, 8 and 9 outweighs the probative value, especially since the same pictures are shown in the autopsy pictures less the blood and the gore.

R. p. 306, lines 3-10.

B. Discussion.

Notwithstanding Gathers' argument to the contrary, there was no error in permitting the State to introduce **State's Exhibits 10-12**. "The admission of evidence is within the sound discretion of the trial judge, and absent a clear abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law, the trial court's ruling will not be disturbed on appeal." *Peterson v. National R.R. Passenger Corp.*, 365 S.C. 391, 399, 618 S.E.2d 903, 907 (2005); *Gambell v. Int'l. Paper Realty Corp.*, 323 S.C. 367, 373, 474 S.E.2d 438, 441 (1996). All relevant evidence is admissible. Rule 402, SCRE. To warrant reversal,

an appellant “must show both the error of the ruling and resulting prejudice.” *Recco Paper & Label Co. v. Barfield*, 312 S.C. 214, 216, 439 S.E.2d 838, 840 (1994); *State v. Hamilton*, 344 S.C. 344, 353, 543 S.E.2d 586, 591 (Ct. App. 2001). Relevant evidence is “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE.

“The relevancy, materiality, and admissibility of photographs as evidence are matters left to the sound discretion of the trial court.” *State v. Nance*, 320 S.C. 501, 508, 466 S.E.2d 349, 353 (1996); *State v. Todd*, 290 S.C. 212, 214, 349 S.E.2d 339, 340 (1986). Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 403, SCRE; *State v. Shuler*, 353 S.C. 176, 184, 577 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2003); *State v. Alexander*, 303 S.C. 377, 401 S.E.2d 146 (1991). “To constitute unfair prejudice, the photographs must create a ‘tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one.’” *State v. Kelley*, 319 S.C. 173, 178, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370-71 (1995) (quoting *Alexander*, 303 S.C. at 377, 401 S.E.2d at 149). However, “[i]f the offered photograph serves to corroborate testimony, it is not an abuse of discretion to admit it.” *State v. Torres*, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 229 (2010) (quoting *Nance*, 320 S.C. at 508, 466 S.E.2d at 353).

Here, the photographs corroborated the pathologist’s testimony as to some of the injuries that the victim had suffered to her head and face. **State’s Exhibit 10** showed the generalized bruising from the victim’s “nose all the way to the scalp.” Additionally, it showed the laceration or “tear from the blunt-force injury over the right eye,” as well as the incised wounds above each eye. Also, and contrary to Gathers’ argument, it appears that the victim's face was cleaned before this picture was taken. **R. p. 286, line 10 - p. 288, line 5.**

State's Exhibit 11 depicted the left side of the victim's face, showing the laceration to her left forehead and the slit above her left eye, as well as "scattered abrasions or scrapes off to the left side of her face." **R. p. 288, lines 6-25.** **State's Exhibit Number 12** depicts the right side of the victim's face, and it shows the incised wound there over her right eye and the "generalized bruising over most of the face." **R. p. 289, lines 1-4.**

Moreover and unlike the photographs in *State v. Collins*, 398 S.C. 197, 201-14, 727 S.E.2d 751, 754-60 (Ct.App. 2012), **State's Exhibits 10-12** were not "calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury." See *Torres*, 390 S.C. at 623, 703 S.E.2d at 228.¹⁶ Further, because "the offered photograph[s] serve[d] to corroborate [the pathologist's and the crime scene witness'] testimony, it [was] not an abuse of discretion to admit [them]." *Torres*, 390 S.C. at 623, 703 S.E.2d at 229; *Nance*, 320 S.C. at 508, 466 S.E.2d at 353. See also *Todd*, 290 S.C. at 214, 349 S.E.2d at 340 (black and white photograph of the victim's right upper chest with the breast exposed showing the location of the bullet wound was admissible to corroborate pathologist's testimony regarding location of wound, and did not prejudice defendant, since there was explicit testimony that victim's blouse and brassiere had been removed by medical personnel when they arrived at scene in order to administer medical assistance); *State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 76, 502 S.E.2d 63, 76 (1998) (photographs of various bone and bomb fragments and clothing found at crime scene were

¹⁶ Gathers refers to the victim's "swollen and mangled face." He also contends that the photographs are prejudicial because they depict blood. However, no such arguments were raised below and Gathers is barred from raising them for the first time on direct appeal. See *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5-6, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (a party cannot argue one theory at trial and a different theory on appeal); *State v. Prioleau*, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001) (an objection should be addressed to the trial court in a sufficiently specific manner that brings attention to the exact error); *State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct.App. 1996) ("To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court"); *State v. Torrence*, 305 S.C. 45, 60-71, 406 S.E.2d 315, 324-29 (1991) (Toal, J., concurring in result and joining Justice Chandler's concurrence in result).

admissible in murder prosecution, despite claim that, because victim's body was found in woods 46 days after crime was committed, weather or local fauna could have altered crime scene during that period; photographs corroborated other testimony concerning condition of victim's body as first discovered by police at crime scene, and location of bone and bomb fragments supported testimony that bomb had been detonated in victim's mouth); *State v. Martucci*, 380 S.C. 232, 249-51, 669 S.E.2d 598, 607-08 (Ct.App. 2008) (autopsy photographs of child's internal organs and other injuries admissible in prosecution for homicide by child abuse, where they were introduced to corroborate testimony of doctor who performed autopsy regarding various injuries inflicted on child, various stages of healing or freshness, and the internal trauma which caused child's death; photographs were relevant to prove that child was abused and abuse caused his death, that abuse manifested an extreme indifference to human life, and that severity of bruises and resulting trauma were inconsistent with accidental injury or play; and photographs were not introduced with the intent to inflame, elicit sympathy of, or prejudice the jury).

There is also no merit to Gathers' contention that **State's Exhibits 10-12** were not needed to prove the elements of murder, in light of the pathologist's testimony and the fact that the location of some wounds were depicted on a chart. This is not the appropriate inquiry. Rather, the appropriate question for determining relevance was whether each of these photographs had "any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence." Rule 401, SCRE. Also, "a defendant cannot dictate the manner in which the prosecution tries its case by stipulating to certain facts or by not challenging an element of the offense" and "the prosecution's burden to prove every element of the crime is not relieved by a defendant's tactical decision not to contest an essential

element of the offense.” See *Estelle v. McGuire*, 502 U.S. 62, 69 (1991); *Mathews v. United States*, 485 U.S. 58, 64-65 (1988).¹⁷

Moreover, the chart was apparently only used as a demonstrative aid and it apparently was not introduced into evidence; only some of the myriad of wounds suffered by the victim were detailed on the chart; a number of the wounds depicted in **State’s Exhibits 10-12** were not depicted on the chart; and the chart only referenced the location of those wounds. It did not and could not accurately depict the wounds. As the old adage says, “[a] picture is worth a thousand words.”¹⁸ The contested photographs more vividly and accurately depict the severity of the external injuries inflicted on the victim’s face and head than the chart or even the pathologist’s testimony could possibly do.

Nor was the probative value of **State’s Exhibits 10-12** substantially outweighed by their prejudicial effect, under Rule 403. As this Court recognized in *Collins*, 398 S.C. at 201-02, 727 S.E.2d at 753-54, “[w]hen [balancing the danger of unfair prejudice] against the probative value, the determination must be based on the entire record and will turn on the facts of each case.” *State v. Lyles*, 379 S.C. 328, 338, 665 S.E.2d 201, 206 (Ct.App. 2008) (citing *State v. Gillian*, 373 S.C. 601,

¹⁷ As the Supreme Court noted in *Old Chief v. United States*, 519 U.S. 172, 189-190 (1997), “the accepted rule that the prosecution is entitled to prove its case free from any defendant’s option to stipulate the evidence away rests on good sense. A syllogism is not a story, and a naked proposition in a courtroom may be no match for the robust evidence that would be used to prove it. People who hear a story interrupted by gaps of abstraction may be puzzled at the missing chapters, and jurors asked to rest a momentous decision on the story’s truth can feel put upon at being asked to take responsibility knowing that more could be said than they have heard. A convincing tale can be told with economy, but when economy becomes a break in the natural sequence of narrative evidence, an assurance that the missing link is really there is never more than second best.”

¹⁸ The adage “refers to the notion that a complex idea can be conveyed with just a single still image.” Also, “[i]t is believed by some that the modern use of the phrase stems from an article by Fred R. Barnard in the advertising trade journal *Printers’ Ink*, promoting the use of images in advertisements that appeared on the sides of streetcars. The December 8, 1921 issue carries an ad entitled, ‘One Look is Worth A Thousand Words.’” See http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/A_picture_is_worth_a_thousand_words. (Footnote omitted).

609, 646 S.E.2d 872, 876 (2007)).

Here, the blood and gore was, for the most part, removed from the victim's face before the photographs were taken and the State did not introduce autopsy photographs that depicted a great deal of blood and gore, in an effort to accommodate Gathers' objection. *See R. p. 133, line 1 - p. 137, line 25*. Further, the Assistant Solicitor correctly noted that this case was not a "who done it" because there was no question about the identity of the perpetrator. Rather, the question was whether or not Gathers beat the victim with malice aforethought. *R. p. 126, line 2 - p. 129, line 14*. In this regard, the State notes that Gathers testified in his own defense at trial. Although his testimony might support a finding that the beating was malicious (*see R. pp. 317-19; 326-29*), the challenged photographs completely refute his contention that the beating was not malicious.

Thus, the disputed photographs were highly probative of malice, vividly and accurately depicting the savage nature of Gathers' attack on his victim. *See Kelley*, 319 S.C. 173, 178, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370-71 (the probative value, on the issue of malice, of charts, photographs, and video depicting the excessive nature of the killing "was great enough to negate the risk of the jury's basing its decision on an improper passion"); *State v. Brazell*, 325 S.C. 65, 78-79, 480 S.E.2d 64, 71-72 (1997) (three photographs of victim's body at crime scene were properly admitted in murder prosecution, where trial judge excluded other photographs for potential prejudicial effect, photographs supported testimony of several witnesses and were relevant to nature of crime; and, even if descriptive testimony of prosecution witnesses adequately conveyed brutality of crime, photographs were harmless surplusage); *Kelsey*, 331 S.C. at 76, 502 S.E.2d at 76 (upholding introduction of several photographs and a diagram). Moreover, the photographs complained of here were not beyond "**the outer limits of what our law permits a jury to consider.**" *See Collins*, 398

S.C. at 210, 727 S.E.2d at 758 (citing *Torres*, 390 S.C. at 624, 703 S.E.2d at 229) (emphasis in original). Unlike the photographs in *Collins*, **State's Exhibits 10-12** depicted what Gathers, personally, did to the victim.

Further, because the victim's face had been cleaned, these photographs were not nearly as prejudicial as the color autopsy photographs of one of the victims, which the Supreme Court concluded were improperly admitted in the sentencing phase in *State v. Middleton*, 288 S.C. 21, 24, 339 S.E.2d 692, 693 (1986).¹⁹ Likewise, the challenged photographs did not depict a child victim's partially eaten face and body. Thus, they did not have "the overwhelming capacity to lure the jury into declaring guilt on the emotional basis of sympathy for the [victim] and horror at the sight of the [victim's] body," as did the ten photographs that this Court found unduly prejudicial in *Collins*. 398 S.C. at 210, 727 S.E.2d at 758.

To more fully understand how brutally Gathers beat the victim and how reasonable the trial judge was in his ruling, one need only review the photographs that were excluded, such as **State's Exhibits for ID 7-9**. The excluded photographs more graphically depict how bloody and battered Gathers left his victim's body. However, these more graphic photographs were excluded, apparently because of their prejudicial effect. *Accord Brazell*, 325 S.C. at 78-79, 480 S.E.2d at 72 ("The judge selected three of the offered photographs because he found they were not unduly prejudicial or inflammatory and they accurately reflected the scene. The trial judge excluded other photographs of the crime scene and autopsy because he found the probative value to be outweighed by the unfair prejudice"). Thus, the trial judge properly allowed the State to admit **State's Exhibits 10-12**, since

¹⁹ In *Middleton*, three photographs "depicted the victim's scalp pulled away from her skull" and another photograph "showed her surgically opened vaginal cavity exposing a large amount of seminal fluid." *Id.*

their introduction withstands a Rule 403, SCRE, analysis.

Finally, any error in the introduction of these photographs must be viewed as non-prejudicial and harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, since it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. *See State v. Sherard*, 303 S.C. 172, 175, 399 S.E.2d 595, 596 (1991) (“Error in a criminal prosecution is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial”); *State v. Bailey*, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (“When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result”).

Specifically, the State notes that Gathers contends that the photographs were cumulative to the testimony of the pathologist and the chart detailing the location of the wounds. To the extent he is correct, any error in introducing the photographs was harmless because “[i]t is well settled that the admission of improper evidence is harmless where it is merely cumulative to other evidence.” *State v. McFarlane*, 279 S.C. 327, 330, 306 S.E.2d 611, 613 (1983). *See also State v. Price*, 368 S.C. 494, 499, 629 S.E.2d 363, 366 (2006) (noting the admission of improper hearsay evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence); *Brazell*, 325 S.C. at 79, 480 S.E.2d at 72 (“Even if the descriptive testimony of the prosecution's witnesses adequately conveyed the brutality and malice of the crime and these photographs were unnecessary, they were harmless surplusage”) (citing *State v. Robinson*, 201 S.C. 230, 22 S.E.2d 587 (1942) (finding the photographs unnecessary but harmless because they were not prejudicial or inflammatory)).

Finally, there was overwhelming evidence of guilt, and even Gathers’ testimony supports a finding that he beat the victim maliciously. As a result, any error in allowing the State to introduce **State’s Exhibits 10-12** must be viewed as harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, in light of the

overwhelming evidence of guilt.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court must be affirmed.